ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.

3rd DCA Case No.: 99-00679

Florida Bar No. 184170

ITT HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY OF THE SOUTHEAST,

Petitioner,

vs.

STILES JERRY OWENS and JEAN A. OWENS, his wife,

Respondents.

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

JUL 24 2000

CLERK SUPREME COURT

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON JURISDICTION
ITT HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY OF THE SOUTHEAST

(With Appendix)

Law Offices of RICHARD A. SHERMAN, P.A. Richard A. Sherman, Esquire Rosemary B. Wilder, Esquire Suite 302 1777 South Andrews Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 525-5885 - Broward (954) 525-5885 - Dade

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

The decision in this present case of granting an additur of \$819,000 without giving the Defendant the alternative of a new trial on damages, is contrary to all Florida law on point.

What happened was that there was disputed medical and economic testimony as to the amount of the Plaintiff's future medical and, other economic damages, the number of years over which the Plaintiff would live and the present value of those economic damages. As in any case, the doctors and economists for both sides gave numerous alternative ways and numbers to calculate these damages, and eventually the jury entered a Verdict finding total future damages to be \$1.8 million, the number of years he would live to be 25 years, and the present value to be \$72,000 as follows:

- 2. What is the amount of any future damages for medical expenses to be sustained by Stiles Jerry Owens in future years?
 - a. Total damages over future years? \$1,800,000.00
 - b. The number of years over which those future damages are intended to provide compensation?

 25 years
 - c. What is the present value of those future damages? \$72,000.00 (Hartford v. Owens Page 2).

It should be noted that \$72,000 per year times 25 years yields \$1.8 million dollars.

After trial, the Plaintiff moved for an additur contending that \$1.8 million was the amount the jury had intended to be the correct one, and that the jury miscalculated the \$72,000, whereas

the Defendant contended that the \$72,000 was the amount the jury intended, and that the jury miscalculated the \$1.8 million. The Defendant further contended there was evidence to support the \$72,000, but no evidence to support the \$1.8 million.

In any event, after hearings on Post-trial Motions, the judge surmised that the jury intended to award the \$1.8 million and not the \$72,000, and then picked certain portions of the expert testimony to discern it should grant an additur of \$819,214, and granted an additur for that amount, but refused to give the Defendant the option of a new trial.

On appeal, the court affirmed by two to one vote with the dissent saying that under Florida law a trial judge clearly has to give the option of a new trial if an additur is granted.

Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing En Banc were filed and the Motion for Rehearing En Banc was denied by a six to five vote. Therefore, this discretionary review was filed to the Honorable Florida Supreme Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision in the present case conflicts with all Florida law and the relevant Florida statutes which hold that when an additur is granted, that the Defendant must be given the alternative of a new trial on damages.

In the present case, the trial judge granted an additur of \$819,214 without the alternative of a new trial on damages, and this is clearly in conflict with Florida law.

As the Opinion of the Third District concedes, both parties presented expert testimony that had contrasting and opposing

figures of future medical damages and also conflicting economic calculations and it is clearly contrary to Florida law for the trial judge to surmise what the jury had intended to do, and take bits and pieces of various economic testimony to come up with the court's own number, and not give an alternative of a new trial. If the court had taken different bits and pieces of economic testimony, it would have come up with a completely different number, and if it had found the \$72,000 was the number the jury had intended and that it had miscalculated the \$1.8 million dollars, that would have been a totally different number. This was clearly an additur, as the decision expressly held, and it is in conflict with all Florida law not to allow the alternative of a new trial.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION IN THE PRESENT CASE, FINDING THE TRIAL JUDGE GRANTED AN ADDITUR BUT NOT ALLOWING AN OPTION OF A NEW TRIAL, CONFLICTS WITH ALL FLORIDA LAW ON POINT, AND PARTICULARLY WITH JARVIS V. TENENT HEALTH SYSTEMS HOSPITAL, INC., INFRA; FOOD LION V. JACKSON, INFRA; AND CITY OF JACKSONVILLE V. BAKER, INFRA.

The Court of Appeal expressly found that the trial court granted an additur, but nonetheless ruled that the Defendant was not entitled to the option of a new trial. This ruling in granting an additur of \$819,214, but not giving the Defendant the option of a new trial, conflicts with all Florida law on point, and specifically conflicts with <u>Jarvis v. Tenent Health Systems Hospital</u>, Inc., 743 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); <u>Food Lion v. Jackson</u>, 712 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

It should be noted that the dissent specifically cites these cases as being in conflict with the majority opinion case.

It should be noted that this was not a situation where the Third District held this was not an additur; the decision is expressly clear that it was an additur, and therefore, holding that the court did not have to give the option of a new trial creates express and direct conflict.

The Opinion is clear that the trial judge granted an additur:

ITT Hartford Insurance Company of the Southeast appeals an order granting an additur in a personal injury case. Defendant-appellant Hartford contends that it is entitled to reject the additur and be given a new trial. See § 768.043, Fla. Stat. (1997). Because under the unusual circumstances of this case there was no disputed issue for retrial, the defendant's request for a new trial was properly denied and we affirm the additur.

(Page 1-2).

Therefore, the court was correct in determining that appellee was entitled to an additur.

(Page 4) (emphasis added).

Furthermore, both § 768.043, Fla. Stat. (1997) and § 768.74, Fla. Stat. (1997) are clear that when an additur is granted, the alternative of a new trial "shall" be given. Section 768.043(1), Fla. Stat. (1997) provides:

"...If the party adversely affected by such remittitur or additur does not agree, the court <u>shall</u> order a new trial in the cause on the issue of damages only." (emphasis added).

Section 768.74(4), Fla. Stat (1997) has the identical language:

"...If the party adversely affected by such remittitur or additur does not agree, the court <u>shall</u> order a new trial in the cause on the issue of damages only." (emphasis added).

Clearly this decision creates express and direct conflict in Florida law, in allowing trial judges to pick and choose medical and expert testimony and grant an additur, but then not to give the party the alternative of a new trial on damages, in conflict with the express mandatory wording of the statutes, and in conflict with Florida case law.

The first case this is in conflict with is <u>Jarvis v. Tenent</u>
<u>Health Systems Hospital</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, <u>supra</u>. What occurred in <u>Jarvis</u>
was that after a large verdict, the trial judge granted a new
trial on both liability and damages, and this was appealed to the
Fourth District. The central issue was whether the new trial
must be on damages only, or whether the trial judge could grant a
new trial on liability and damages. The decision discussed the
fact that the relevant statute, § 768.74(4) mandatorily provides
that the party "shall" be given the alternative of a new trial:

... The statute further provides that "[i]f the party adversely affected by such remittitur or additur does not agree, the court shall order a new trial in the cause on the issues of damages only."

Jarvis, 1219.

The court held that "shall" was mandatory language and the new trial must be on damages only.

Therefore, the decision in the present case, which specifically holds that this is an additur, but that the trial judge can grant an additur without an alternative grant of a new

trial, is in express and direct conflict with <u>Jarvis</u>, which holds that "shall" is mandatory language and that when an additur is granted, the defendant must have the alternative of a new trial on damages.

The decision, in the present case, is also in conflict with the case of Food Lion v. Jackson, supra, which was also cited by the dissent as being in conflict with the court's decision. facts in Food Lion were that a customer slipped and fell on a wet floor, and the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff. On post-trial motions, the trial judge granted an additur of \$5,000 and gave the defendant the alternative of a new trial on damages only. On appeal, the issue was whether the § 768.74, Fla. Stat. (1997), which states that after an additur is granted the party must be given the alternative of a new trial on damages only, precludes the court from granting a new trial on both damages and liability where it was a compromise verdict. The opinion in Food Lion holds that a new trial can be on liability and damages, but the dissent in Food Lion urges that the mandatory language requires that the new trial be on damages alone. However, both the majority and dissent make clear that there must be the alternative of a new trial given, and therefore, this is in express and direct conflict with the opinion in the present case.

The facts in <u>City of Jacksonville v. Baker</u>, 456 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), <u>rev. den.</u>, 464 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1985) were that Baker was injured in an intersectional collision between an automobile, and a motorcycle on which he was riding as a passenger. After trial, the jury returned a verdict for \$400,000

and the trial judge granted an additur and gave the defendant the alternative of a new trial on damages. The defendant appealed urging that the new trial should be on both liability and damages. The court discussed the mandatory language of § 768.74, and quoted the language that "the court shall order a new trial in the cause on the issue of damages only," and ruled that the alternative to the additur would be a new trial on damages only.

Once again, this holding that the Florida Statutes and case law require that there be an option of a new trial when an additur is granted, is in express and direct conflict with the present case, which holds that judge can enter an additur without the alternative grant of a new trial.

Further, the decision under review points out that there was conflicting medical testimony and expert testimony from both sides about future medical care and about the present value of future damages:

At trial there was differing medical testimony regarding the amount of money needed for future medical treatment. Both sides also presented expert economists who testified about calculating the present value of future damages.

(Hartford v. Owens, Page 2).

It certainly is contrary to Florida law for the trial judge to weigh conflicting medical testimony and conflicting expert testimony, and pick and choose different calculations to surmise what the jury truly intended, and change the Verdict by \$819,000. Certainly, this is an additur, as the Third District specifically held, and a new trial should be awarded.

In fact, the jury does not even have to be provided expert testimony in order to reduce damages to present value. <u>Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Company v. Burdi</u>, 427 So. 2d 1048 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); so it is a conflict of law to hold that it was bound by portions of the medical and economic testimony presented, but not by other portions.

Also, as the court noted in the first paragraph on page three of the Opinion, the defense took the position that the reduction of \$1.8 million to \$72,000 was within the evidence, and therefore, it was error for the trial judge to disregard part of the evidence in creating her own present value, which was not a number the jury had arrived at, especially without giving the alternative of a new trial.

Further, the jury could have found that, having seen its money shrink due to inflation over the years, that interest rates and inflation would cancel out, and this would be a basis for the present verdict. Further, the jury could have found that \$72,000 was the amount it wanted to award, and it miscalculated the total number. There are so many numbers and alternatives it is totally incredulous for a trial judge to try to surmise what the jury intended, and grant an additur without the alternative of a new trial, and discretionary review must be granted.

There was no case law cited by the Third District in its opinion, which allows a court to grant an almost million dollar additur, without giving the Defendant the option of a new trial on damages. The Court only cited cases where a retrial can be limited to a certain item of damages, but none of the cases

involves the addition of almost a million dollars to the Verdict by the trial court. In <u>Astigarraga v. Green</u>, 712 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), the party was given the option of a new trial.

This case does not involve a simple addition error, but complex and conflicting medical and economic testimony. As this Court is well aware, the jury can arrive at a present value determination, based on its own common sense, or based on expert testimony. Experts testified at trial regarding present value determinations, discount rates, inflation, etc; which were explained to the jury; as well as investments in the stock market.

Similarly, none of the cases cited by the majority below dealt with an issue where an additur was granted, but a new trial on damages was denied. Astigarraga v. Green, supra; Altilio v Gemperline, 637 So. 2d 299 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994); Dyes v. Spick, 606 So. 2d 700 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). The very fact that not a single case in Florida exists that holds that an additur can be granted without the defendant being given an option of a new trial on damages, substantiates the fact that the decision in this case involves a question of great public importance; as well as being in direct and express conflict with Florida law.

The additur statute clearly does not permit the Court to say that an additur of almost \$1 million can be granted; but say a new trial would be a waste of time, because the jury would reach the same evidentiary finding that the judge reached post-verdict. There is a 99% chance the jury would not reach that result, so

the province of the jury was invaded.

The decision is also in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in Pinillos v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corporation, 403 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 1981) where at a post-trial hearing the trial judge took evidence on future damages, on the theory that the jury had improperly reduced the future damages to present money value based on an erroneous instruction given to the jury. The court held it was reversible error for the trial court to make reductions in present value. The Court of Appeal ruled the trial judge should have "granted a new trial on damages." Pinillos, 368.

Furthermore, the decision in this case is also in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in Poole v. Veterans Auto Sales and Leasing Company, Inc., 668 So. 2d 189 (Fla. 1996). In that case, the Supreme Court held when an additur had been rejected, the only issue for the appellate court was the propriety of the court refusing to grant a new trial on damages, under the remittitur/additur statute. In other words, once the additur is rejected, the only issue is whether the trial court must reinstate the jury's verdict, or grant a new trial on damages only.

CONCLUSION

This case conflicts with <u>Jarvis v. Tenent Health Systems</u>

<u>Hospital, Inc.</u>, 743 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999); <u>Food Lion v.</u>

<u>Jackson</u>, 712 So. 2d 800 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998); and <u>City of</u>

<u>Jacksonville v. Baker</u>, 456 So. 2d 1274 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), <u>rev.</u>

<u>den.</u>, 464 So. 2d 554 (Fla. 1985).