# ORIGINAL

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 5000-1508

THOMAS D. HALL

JUL 28 2000

CLERK, SURREME COURT

ITT HARTFORD INSURANCE COMPANY OF THE SOUTHEAST,

Petitioner,

VS.

STILES JERRY OWENS and JEAN A. OWENS, his wife,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

# RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

By: JOEL S. PERWIN Fla. Bar No. 316814

# **

# **CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE**

This brief is typed in 14 Times New Roman proportionally spaced.

#### I STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Because the Petitioner (hereinafter "Hartford") has selectively stated (and in some cases mis-stated) the facts articulated by the district court, we need to emphasize the factual context in which this proceeding arises. Unlike Hartford, we will confine ourselves strictly to the facts stated in the district court's opinion. *See Reaves v. State*, 485 So.2d 829, 830 n.3 (Fla. 1986).

As the district court noted (A. 2) and Hartford concedes, in light of the "differing medical testimony regarding the amount of money needed for future medical treatment" (A. 2), the jury's award of \$1.8 million for future medical expenses is fully supported by the evidence, and is therefore beyond challenge. Indeed, Hartford filed no post-trial motion directed to that award and raised no appellate issue directed to that award. Moreover, and critical in this context, after the jury had returned its verdict, Hartford did *not* argue to the trial court that the award of \$1.8 million in future medical damages was inconsistent with the jury's present-money-value calculation of \$72,000 over 25 years, and therefore that the jury should be sent back to resolve the asserted inconsistency (*see* A. 3). Given that the evidence of record fully supported the jury's award of \$1.8 million in future medical damages, that was the only way that Hartford could have pursued the numerous arguments which it raised in the trial court, the district court and again in this Court--all of which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The award was not, as Hartford states (jurisdictional brief at 1), for "future medical and, other economic damages . . . ." As the verdict form states, it was for "damages for medical expenses to be sustained by Stiles Jerry Owens in future years" (A. 2).

reduce to the contention that the jury intended the \$72,000 present-money-value determination, but made some mistake in calculating the \$1.8 million in future medical expenses.<sup>2</sup>/

Instead, as the district court pointed out (A. 3), when the trial judge "called counsel to side bar" after the verdict, giving Hartford the opportunity to send the jury back to resolve any inconsistency, Hartford said nothing. It was only the plaintiffs who "requested that the present value calculation be submitted to the jury but the trial court declined to do so" (A. 3). Then Hartford did not--post-trial or on appeal--raise any challenge to the jury's finding of \$1.8 million in future medical expenses. The only issue raised by either side was the plaintiffs' contention that in light of the jury's *unchallenged* award of \$1.8 million in future medical expenses, its purported reduction to a present money value of \$72,000 (obviously dividing \$1.8 million by 25 years) was not supported by the evidence introduced by *both sides* on the issue of present money value.

As the opinion points out (A. 3), the only evidence introduced on that issue was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2/</sup> For example, Hartford argues (jurisdictional brief at 8) that without the necessity of any expert testimony, the jury could have concluded that interest rates and future inflation will cancel each other out, and therefore could have intended to award the same amount for future medical expenses and for the present money value of those expenses. But in that event, given Hartford's failure to argue that the verdicts were inconsistent or to challenge the \$1.8 million future-damage award, the jury's present-money-value calculation also would have to be \$1.8 million. Every one of Hartford's arguments fails in the recognition that Hartford never challenged the \$1.8 million award, and never asked that the jury be sent back to resolve any inconsistency.

the testimony of the defense economist that the appropriate discount rate was 5.5%, and that of the plaintiffs' expert advocating a discount rate of 6.3% (A. 2). And "[u]nder either calculation, the resulting figure would be **much** higher than the \$72,000.00 figure contained as Item 2c on the jury verdict form" (A. 3) (emphasis in original). In other words, given the jury's unchallenged \$1.8 million award, there is **no** evidence of record which could conceivably justify its reduction to a present money value of \$72,000.00.<sup>3</sup>/

Thus the only finding--by the trial court and by the appellate court--was that the jury's reduction of \$1.8 million to a present money value of \$72,000 over 25 years was not supported by the uncontradicted evidence of record. Hartford therefore would have been entitled in the ordinary case to choose between additur or a new trial on the issue of present money value only--the only issue challenged by *either party* on appeal. However, as the district court noted, a retrial on the issue of present

Although Hartford indeed "took the position" (post-trial) "that the reduction of \$1.8 million to \$72,000 was within the evidence" (jurisdictional brief at 8), Hartford was incorrect. Indeed, as we pointed out in our brief in the district court, even in the lowest tax bracket it would require a discount rate of 67% to produce a return of that magnitude over 25 years; and in higher tax brackets the required rate would range from 71% to 95%. As we also noted, this Court has made clear that present money value must be measured by such investments as "interest rates payable on government bonds, bank deposits, building and loan association deposits, insurance contracts, and other thoroughly safe investments . . . . " Renaurt Lumber Yards, Inc. v. Levine, 49 So.2d 97, 98 (Fla. 1950). Thus, it is not surprising that the highest number which even the defense expert could justify was 6.31%; and the plaintiffs' number was 5 1/2%. Any higher number offered by Hartford or its experts—and certainly a discount rate ranging from 67% to 95%—would have been stricken by the trial court as impermissibly speculative. In any event, there was no such evidence.

money value was made unnecessary because the "plaintiffs stated that they would accept the defense figure and abandon the higher figure (6.3%) which had been supported by plaintiffs' expert"; and "[t]he trial court used the *defense figure* and granted an additur of \$819,214" (A. 3-4) (emphasis added). Only under those circumstances--that there was nothing to try because the plaintiffs were willing to accept the defense discount rate--did the trial court properly rule that a new trial on the issue of present money value was unnecessary.<sup>4</sup>/

On that limited point, the district court "entirely agree[d]" that the jury's unchallenged \$1.8 million award reflected its intention and was supported by the evidence; that "[t]he error was in the present value calculation"; that "the only issue to be tried here if a new trial were granted would be the reduction of future medical expenses to present money value"; and that because the "[p]laintiffs accepted defendant's discount rate for the reduction to present money value," "[t]hat concession by plaintiffs left no issue to be tried" (A. 4). The district court held that under §768.043(1), Fla. Stat. (1997)--which provides that when the opposing party

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4/</sup> Hartford says repeatedly throughout its brief that the trial court took "bits and pieces of various economic testimony to come up with the court's own number" for present money value (jurisdictional brief at 3; see id. at 7, 8). The trial court did no such thing. Given the jury's unchallenged award of \$1.8 million in future medical expenses, the trial court simply asked both sides to calculate the present money value of that unchallenged award using the same discount rate which each side had offered at trial (and therefore was clearly estopped to repudiate). That produced two different numbers, and the plaintiffs then agreed to accept the lower number. The trial court did no calculation, and no factfinding, of its own.

will not agree to remittitur or additur, "the court shall order a new trial in the cause on the issue of damages only"--the phrase "issue of damages" logically refers to the element of damages which is affected by the new-trial order (A. 5). Three district-court decisions explicitly support that holding (see A. 6, discussed infra), and there is no decision--of this Court or any district court--which remotely contradicts it. To the contrary, the district court noted, the cases cited by the dissent (resurrected in Hartford's jurisdictional brief) have nothing to do with the unique situation presented when the moving party is willing to accept the other side's best evidence on the point in question (A. 4-5). In that context, as in any other context in which one side is willing to concede the other side's factual position, there is simply nothing to try. Against this background, there is no conceivable conflict justifying intervention by this Court.

## II ISSUE ON REVIEW

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH ANY OTHER DECISIONS IN HOLDING 1) THAT §768.043 REQUIRES A NEW TRIAL ONLY ON THE ELEMENT OF DAMAGES WHICH HAS BEEN CHALLENGED BY THE PARTY MOVING FOR A NEW TRIAL--NOT ON ELEMENTS OF DAMAGES ON WHICH THERE IS NO DISPUTE; AND 2) THAT A NEW TRIAL IS NOT NECESSARY IF THE MOVING PARTY IS WILLING TO STIPULATE TO THE OTHER SIDE'S POSITION.

#### III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As the district court noted, "under the unusual circumstances of this case" (A. 2), its decision is not at all controversial, nor does it conflict with any decision of this or any other court. There are two holdings. First, when the moving party is entitled to a new trial on "the issue of damages" under §768.043, Fla. Stat. (1997), the new trial is limited to "the issue of damages" which is in controversy--that is, the issue on which the trial court has ordered an additur or remittitur. If neither party has challenged two or three other elements of damages, it makes no sense at all to require that those elements be retried. And on this point, it is critical to note that Hartford has offered no authority at all which assertedly contradicts the district court's holding. None of the decisions cited by Hartford addresses the question of whether the new trial ordered has to include all of the elements of damages even when some of them have not been challenged, and are not the subject of the additur or remittitur ordered. Hartford has not even alleged conflict on this point. Therefore, it has conceded for the purposes of this proceeding that if a new trial were to be ordered in this case, it would be limited to the issue of present money value--that is, how to reduce the unchallenged award of \$1.8 million in future medical expenses to present money value. That is the only new trial which Hartford is even asking for in this proceeding.

Second, the district court agreed with the trial court in holding, in the unique context of this case, that a new trial limited to the single issue of present money value would be a waste of time, because the plaintiffs agreed below to accept both

Hartford's discount rate and Hartford's calculation of the present money value of the jury's unchallenged award of \$1.8 million in future medical damages. This is simply one of a variety of different contexts in which one side's stipulation obviates the necessity of a jury trial on what would otherwise be a triable factual issue. Sometimes there are simply no factual issues to try. That is why we have summary judgments; that is why we have directed verdicts; and that is why the parties are always free to narrow the issues by stipulation. Here the plaintiffs agreed to stipulate to Hartford's discount rate--a figure which Hartford was obviously estopped to retract. Since the plaintiffs were willing to give Hartford its own number, Hartford had no basis for complaint. And Hartford still has no basis for complaint.

#### IV ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY OTHER DECISION IN HOLDING 1) THAT §768.043 REQUIRES A NEW TRIAL ONLY ON THE ELEMENT OF DAMAGES WHICH HAS BEEN CHALLENGED BY THE PARTY MOVING FOR A NEW TRIAL--NOT ON ELEMENTS OF DAMAGES ON WHICH THERE IS NO DISPUTE; AND 2) THAT A NEW TRIAL IS NOT NECESSARY IF THE MOVING PARTY IS WILLING TO STIPULATE TO THE OTHER SIDE'S POSITION.

It is critical to note at the outset that of the district court's two holdings, Hartford has purported to find conflict on only one of them--on its asserted right to a new trial on the issue of present money value only. Hartford has *not* identified any

asserted conflict with the district court's holding that any new trial granted to Hartford would be limited to the issue of present money value alone--that is, to the sole question of how to reduce the unchallenged award of \$1.8 million to present money value over 25 years. Unlike the dissent, Hartford has not even argued that any of the decisions cited by Hartford in its jurisdictional brief addresses that question. Hartford attributes to its citations only the argument that a trial on the single issue of present money value is required notwithstanding the plaintiffs' willingness to accept both Hartford's discount rate and Hartford's calculation of present money value according to that rate.

On that question, although Hartford has cited a number of decisions, not one of them involves a situation in which the plaintiff is willing to accept the defendant's best evidence on the point at issue. As the district court noted (A. 4-5), *Jarvis v*. *Tenet Health Systems Hospital, Inc.*, 743 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) and *Food Lion v. Jackson*, 712 So.2d 800 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (*see* jurisdictional brief at 5-6) merely state the general rule that §768.043 requires a new trial in the alternative, in the course of holding that the statute requires only a new trial on damages--not liability. Neither case involves the propriety of a new trial when the moving party is willing to stipulate to the other side's measure of damages (nor, as we have noted, does either discuss the propriety of a new trial on any sub-elements of damages which are not contested).

Hartford also cites City of Jacksonville v. Baker, 456 So.2d 1274 (Fla. 1st DCA

1984), review denied, 464 So.2d 554 (Fla. 1985) (jurisdictional brief at 6-7), also holding that the new trial ordered should be on "damages only"--without discussing either the unchallenged sub-elements of damages or the issue of what happens when the moving party is willing to stipulate to the other side's numbers. Again, therefore, no conceivable conflict.

Hartford cites *Poole v. Veterans Auto Sales and Leasing Co.*, 668 So.2d 189 (Fla. 1996) (jurisdictional brief at 10), in which this Court upheld the constitutionality of §768.74, and in the process noted that because the defendant had rejected the additur and appealed the new-trial order, the district court should not have addressed at all the propriety of the additur. That holding has no conceivable relevance to the issues in this proceeding.

Finally (jurisdictional brief at 10), Hartford cites *Pinellos v. Cedars of Lebanon Hospital Corp.*, 403 So.2d 365 (Fla. 1981), in which the trial court accepted the defendants' post-trial argument that the jury had employed an incorrect formula in calculating present money value, but the trial court then itself accepted the post-trial recalculation of a defense expert over the plaintiffs' strenuous objection. This Court properly held that because the plaintiffs had "expressly requested that the jury make the appropriate reductions" and "did not agree to the use of the [post-trial] formula," "the trial court erred in making the reductions predicated upon a formula established post-trial. Rather, upon motion of counsel, it should have granted a new trial on damages." *Id.* at 368. *Pinellos* therefore perfectly illustrates the point which we are

making, and which the district court made. Where the parties are in *disagreement* about the appropriate discount rate, then the issue of present money value obviously has to be retried (note the strong implication in *Pinellos* that *only* the issue of present money value needs to be retried). But where the plaintiff is willing to accept the discount rate offer by the defendant, and indeed is willing to accept the defendant's calculation of present money value according to that rate, there is simply nothing to try. Under these circumstances, as in any other context in which there are no disputed issues of fact, the trial court may properly enter judgment according to the undisputed facts. That is all that happened in this case. There is no conflict.

## V CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that Hartford's petition should be denied.

Respectfully submitted,

PODHURST, ORSECK, JOSEFSBERG, EATON, MEADOW, OLIN & PERWIN, P.A. 25 W. Flagler Street, Suite 800 Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

Rv.

JOEL S. PERWIN

Fla. Bar No. 316814